) DIIS WORKING PAPER

Disaster-Resilience in the Network Age Access-Denial and the Rise of Cyber-Humanitarianism

Mark Duffield

DIIS Working Paper 2013:23

MARK DUFFIELD

Global Insecurities Centre, University of Bristol m.duffield@bristol.ac.uk

DIIS Working Papers make available DIIS researchers' and DIIS project partners' work in progress towards proper publishing. They may include important documentation which is not necessarily published elsewhere. DIIS Working Papers are published under the responsibility of the author alone. DIIS Working Papers should not be quoted without the express permission of the author.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Between 8 April and 7 June 2013, I had the honour and pleasure of being a Guest Professor at the Danish Institute of International Studies (DIIS), Copenhagen. Without the space that this sojourn afforded, completing this Working Paper would have been all the more onerous. Apart from time to read and reflect, I greatly benefited from the opportunity to present the Paper's core themes at two DIIS seminars. In particular, I would like to thank *Finn Stepputat*, *Jairo Munive and their colleagues* at DIIS for both making my stay possible and the friendly support and collegiality that I enjoyed during my visit

DIIS WORKING PAPER 2013:23

© The author and DIIS, Copenhagen 2013 Danish Institute for International Studies, DIIS Østbanegade 117, DK-2100, Copenhagen, Denmark Ph: +45 32 69 87 87 Fax: +45 32 69 87 00 E-mail: diis@diis.dk Web: www.diis.dk

Cover Design: Carsten Schiøler Layout: Allan Lind Jørgensen Printed in Denmark by Vesterkopi AS

ISBN: 978-87-7605-649-0 (print) ISBN: 978-87-7605-650-6 (pdf)

Price: DKK 25.00 (VAT included) DIIS publications can be downloaded free of charge from www.diis.dk

CONTENTS

Abstract	4
1. Protect and survive	5
2. Internalising disaster	6
3. Emptying the camps	7
4. The double-truth of resilience	8
5. Embracing risk versus care-of-the-self	10
6. Accessing commercial geospatial technology	12
7. Remote sensing in complex emergencies	14
8. Web 2.0 and cyber-humanitarianism	15
9. Disaster-resilience in the Network Age	20
10. Concluding argument	22
Bibliography	24

ABSTRACT

This working paper explores the rise of cyber-humanitarianism, that is, the increasing reliance of remote and smart Net-based technologies in humanitarian management. It does this by charting how the understanding of disaster has shifted from modernist concerns to protect from external disaster events to present-day attempts to modulate internal social and economic processes that strengthen the disaster-resilience of vulnerable populations. The paper argues that resilience, reflecting its conversation with neoliberalism, has a double-truth structure. In response to increased perceptions of risk, far from embracing future uncertainty as aid policy advocates, aid managers are reducing their own exposure by retreating into gated aid-complexes. Where resilience is applied to international aid workers, it focuses on narcissistic and subjective forms of care-of-the self, now an essential characteristic of life in the bunker. In overcoming the growing problem of access denial and remoteness within disaster zones, cyber-humanitarianism is explored in terms of its overcoming terrestrial barriers while simultaneously making possible hyper-bunkered forms of aid management driven by an uncritical technological-determinist vision of modulating the moods, expectations and actions of remote disaster-affected populations. The paper makes special reference to the genealogy of the refugee camp and illustrates the development of machine-thinking with reference to Sudan's Darfur crisis.

I. PROTECT AND SURVIVE

If it were possible to teleport the leading disaster experts and practitioners of the 1970s into the present, today's approach to risk and survivability would probably appear rather fanciful, if not, morally dubious. Exploring the difference in how disasters were understood then and now is important and provides a metaphor for how politics has changed more widely. In order to flag this distinction, the terms liberal or modernist as opposed to neo-liberal or post-modernist are used loosely and interchangeably as descriptive labels denoting contrasting commitments to comprehensive planning and social protection, as opposed to market decentralisation, self-management and resilience. In analysing the historic shift toward disaster-resilience, the paper traces the importance of a technological-determinist cyber-humanitarianism to the completion of this neoliberal project.

The dominant approach to emergency in the 1970s was based upon modernist assumptions regarding security, and their corresponding technologies of rescue and protection. Disasters were not, as they are today, seen as a necessary outcome of the anthropocentric blurring of the human activity into the environment as a force of nature (Folke 2006). Rather than being the outcome of radical interconnectivity, natural disasters were understood to be more or less random accidents or unusual occurrences that originated outside of normal society (Hewitt 1983). While it was assumed that societies would eventually return to normal after a disaster event, the aim of humanitarian rescue was to temporarily wall-off, or otherwise place some protective barrier or form of quarantine, between the disaster event and normal society. This could have involved the large-scale relocation of vulnerable populations; the construction of major flood or avalanche defences, or similar engineering programmes; mass civil defence provision; society-wide vaccination campaigns; an international quarantine approach to disease control and, in the Third World, a camp-based refugee regime.

According to Kenneth Hewitt's (1983) celebrated critique of the modernist approach, it had three main components. First, the belief that geo-physical processes and their impacts could be predicted by science; second, that you could plan comprehensively, engineer protection and respond managerially to contain or minimise these impacts; finally, that you could create a centralised rescue capacity based on a hierarchy of relief organizations, including the logistical and managerial capacities of national militaries. While well reflected in the organisation of civil defence against nuclear attack, especially in the Soviet Union, this modernist approach found practical expression in the West, for example, with the emergence of comprehensive all-hazard public rescue organizations and capacities in the USA and Europe from the 1970s (Davis 2007).

In the erstwhile Third World, the 1970s also saw the emergence of the contemporary, UN-led international humanitarian system (Kent 1987). At the time, an important technology of humanitarian rescue was the refugee camp. In Africa the refugee camp typified the modernist approach to disaster. It operated to physically separate the refugees from society as integral to their protection and rehabilitation. The camp literally walled-off the politics of forced-displacement from normal society. The Organisation of African Union's (OAU) 1969 Refugee Convention, for example, for the first time formally conferred a humanitarian status on refugees, with its offer of asylum and support from UNHCR, in exchange for their renouncement of the politics of their

displacement (Karadawi 1999). The camp provided a disciplinary diagram for the rational administration of relief and rehabilitation to these new humanitarian subjects. Contrary to today's concerns with the increasing securitization and militarisation (Kahn 2008), until the 1980s it was still common to see the refugee camp as a developmental institution (Chimni 1999). Reflecting the more open international refugee regime of the time, refugees appeared as a potential labour resource for the receiving country, especially, in the development of state-backed commercial agriculture. As sites of education and other services, many of the global-South's future political leaders would trace their beginnings to the opportunities then afforded the refugee.

2. INTERNALISING DISASTER

The modernist belief that disasters lay outside society was already breaking down in the 1970s. The rejection of traditional Red Crossstyle battle-field neutrality by the break-away Médecins sans Frontières (MSF) during the Biafra civil war of the late 1960s (Magone, Weissman, and Neuman 2011) was part of a growing willingness to translate disaster events into their local humanitarian effects. The new ability of the international telecommunications industry to reveal these effects to a public audience was important in cultivating a non-state humanitarian imperative (Whitaker 1983). This inward shift also drew upon the discovery of vulnerability as a measure of risk exposure (Baird et al. 1975). Statistically, the apparent steady rise in the number of people affected by disaster did not necessarily result from an increase in disaster events. Attention was drawn to the relative positions of socio-economic advantage and disadvantage

arising from differences of wealth, gender, age, education, employment and geography that rendered particular groups more or less open to disaster events (Wisner et al. 2004). Moreover, rather than promote development, capitalism was making more people vulnerable rather than less. Instead of being outside normal society, internal socio-economic differences in wealth and advantage not only feed into disaster events but, importantly, provided the vectors through which their effects were unequally felt among the populace (Hewitt 1983).

During the 1970s, vulnerability carried a critical social-democratic, if not Marxist, edge (Spiz 1978). In destroying the viability of subsistence agriculture, which itself fed into rapid and unplanned urbanisation, capitalism was producing an expanding world of vulnerability as a condition of its continued existence (Amin 1974). Such views fed into Third World agitation for global economic reform (Duffield 2001). By the early 1980s, however, vulnerability as capitalist critique was being eclipsed by a rising neoliberal sensibility in development policy. Rather than vulnerability being a consequence of capitalist dispossession, it was increasingly understood in more subjective terms. In particular, the importance of the choices made by the poor in shaping eventual outcomes attracted increasing attention (Booth 1993). The question of social capital, and the way in which the poor manage human and natural resources came into view. The meaning of vulnerability shifted from victimhood deserving protection to defining an essentially entrepreneurial-self able, potentially at least, to manage the effects of disaster and learn from them (Anderson and Woodrow 1989).

This emergent neoliberal sensibility was systematised and deepened through cross fertilisation from the environmental movement. Through its very inventiveness and past success in asserting its control over nature, humanity now finds itself in a desperate struggle with its own anthropocentric feedback loops, radical uncertainties and manufactured risk (Giddens 2009). The marginalisation of protection as a result of the environmental absorption of human sentiment and activity, has been significantly deepened by the effortless colonisation of social, managerial and economic policy by resilience-thinking (Walker and Cooper 2011). Especially, the 1970s ecological understanding of resilience as the adaptive potential of all living-systems, human and non-human, to survive perturbation and external shocks (Holling 1973). While not always called resilience in the policy literature - this has been a relatively recent act of consolidation - resilience-thinking has had a major impact on humanitarian policy, turning it away from external protection to a disaster management more concerned with modulating life-processes and promoting internal adaptation (Cannon and Müller-Mahn 2010).

3. EMPTYING THE CAMPS

These developments can be traced, for example, in the way we now understand famine. Until the 1970s, it was common to regard famine as a macro-economic problem, in particular, the result of an absolute shortage of food. The work of Amartya Sen (1981) was instrumental in changing this view. It strengthened the shift in the understanding of vulnerability towards privileging variable micro-economic factors like social capital and natural endowment for defining an individual's ability, despite famine conditions, to access the food that *invariably* is available at a price in the market place. Famine was redefined in relation to ideas of entitlement and empowerment (Edkins 2000). Rather than victimhood, the accent was now on what disaster-affected populations could do for themselves. Research on famine in Sudan's Darfur province in the mid-1980s, for example, discovered that humanitarian assistance supplied only twelve-per cent of the food consumed by the drought-affected rural population (de Waal 1988, 1989). The remainder was provided by individual and household coping strategies. For example, labour migration, loans from relatives, sale of livestock and other assets, and the consumption of wild foods.

The discovery that individual coping strategies are more important for survival than organised famine relief encouraged research on livelihoods, and livelihood systems. Especially, how they adapt and change through the agency of the disaster-affected communities themselves. By the end of the 1980s, disaster management in Sudan, for example, had been reinterpreted as a means of supporting these livelihood strategies. The experience of Oxfam in the arid Red Sea Hills, for example, suggested that food aid, rather than as a means of saving life, was better interpreted as an economic-transfer due to its ability to offset a need for recurrent stress-sales of livestock. Through encouraging herd regeneration, targeted food aid could support life while simultaneously contributing to the goal of sustainable development (Walker 1987). Save the Children's experience in Darfur suggested that the viability of rural subsistence had entered a state of permanent emergency. Since food insecurity was now normal rather than exceptional, disaster management should be decentralised, as modernist topdown approaches undermined the effective operation of local-level coping mechanisms. Process-oriented relief management coupled with enabling market reforms was advocated

as the best policy to maximise the adaptive potential of the disaster-affected's own livelihood strategies (Eldridge and Rydjiski 1988).

Understanding the internal connections between society, the environment and disaster underpinned an appreciation that disasters also encouraged social adaptation and new forms of self-organisation. As a modernist technology of rescue and protection, these shifts coincided and merged into a disavowal of the refugee camp. By the end of the 1970s, an institution, the camp entered a period of sustained critique (for liberature review see, Harrell-Bond 1998). The top-down distribution of relief created dependency among recipients and stifled innovation. Separated from society, camps prevented refugees from using the skills and experience they did have. They also created a parallel infrastructure of service provision that eroded government capacity. Taken together, such factors worked against market integration as they prevented refugees from exercising choice and being responsible for their own self-management (Ibid). Reflecting the eclipse of a modernist disciplinary society in the global-North (Deleuze 1995), and the corresponding dismantling of the nineteenth century system of mental asylums and other places of institutional remove, the discovery that people's life and livelihood choices are more important for survival than organised relief, justified the ideological emptying of the refugee camp of any progressive or developmental content. While the need for camps endures, since the 1980s, as international asylum regimes hardened into a system of exclusion (Crisp 2003; Huysmans 2000), camps for refugees and the internally displaced have progressively become securitized international no-go areas (Loescher and Milner 2004).

By the end of the Cold War, rather than supporting rescue and protection, disaster management was more concerned with the modulation of social and economic processes in the interests of promoting adaptive coping strategies. The modernist view that disasters were essentially preventable accidents occurring outside normal society had been replaced by the prospect of adapting to the reality of internal permanent emergency (Duffield 1993). In reinforcing this inward anthropocentric turn, in the Horn of Africa at least, complexity theory had begun to make its presence felt (Hutchinson 1991). Rather than dispossession, permanent emergency arises from an unstable social-ecological interface that is being repeatedly compromised by human activity. In taking account of the nonlinear and oscillating nature of adaptive coping strategies, international aid agencies were advised to embrace chaos management (Ibid). In shifting from modernism to postmodernism, disaster studies had by now shed the social-democratic or Marxist leanings it may have had. Henceforth, disaster management would develop as part of what Mirowski (2013: 73-75) calls the Neoliberal Thought Collective.

4. THE DOUBLE-TRUTH OF RESILIENCE

While having a different function, *uncertainty* occupies a strategic place for both modernism and neoliberalism (O'Malley 2009). For modernism, it was the uncertainty of when, or to whom, a disaster would befall that gave scientific credibility to treating emergencies as more or less random accidents that were, nonetheless, open to computer-driven cryptanalysis, prediction and informed countermeasures to secure infrastructure and populations (Hewitt 1983). However, uncertainty was not banished. Driven by the increasingly complex, military-based algorithmic modelling tools developed during the Cold War to simulate the environmental effects of atomic warfare (Edwards 2012), it has continued in the current acceptance that disaster events cannot be known with certainty (WEF 2013). Apart from informing conceptions of national security (HMG 2010), in elevating the unknown over the known, radical uncertainty also reflects the Neoliberal Thought Collective tendency to privilege, if not celebrate, ignorance (Mirowski 2013: 78-83). Future uncertainty has been used to problematize the historical inevitability of classic actuarial risk. That we will all age and die, for example, has been eclipsed by future uncertainty as a life-affirming challenge. At least, that is, as long as one understands that this celebration and prescription is mainly intended for public consumption; neoliberalism also has a more esoteric and private playbook (Ibid: 68-72).

In terms of disaster management, since the 1980s, through a combination of structural adjustment and austerity (Cornia 1987; Pierson 1994), affected populations have been progressively freed-up or exposed to the therapeutic potential of making life-defining choices. They have been made free to embrace risk and thereby develop foresight and enterprise (O'Malley 2009). Figuratively speaking, they have been expelled from the modernist camps and reintegrated into the opportunity and fitness landscapes of the global-South's emerging markets. Within the past decade this pre-existing neoliberal turn in aid policy has been systematised and deepened through morphing into resilience-thinking. While neoliberalism and resilience are different, they now interconnect as parts of a shared conversation. Having origins in the life sciences, especially, the 1970s radical ecology, resilience has become a lingua franca of preparedness,

adaptability and survivability now operating effortlessly across the natural, social and psychological domains. We can now talk in a mutually intelligible way about the resilience of such diverse things as natural habitats, engineered structures or human institutions and individual capacities. Usually understood as an ability to absorb external shock, resilience also implies a capacity to maintain system functionality during periods of stress and rapid change. Many of its social policy adherents, however, including those within the aid industry, would go further. The aim is not just to bounce back from rapid change and external shock; it's to bounce back better (DFID 2011).

Following the end of the Cold War, there has been a noticeable blurring of the former modernist dichotomy between relief and development within disaster management. Traditional relief-development boundaries separating communities directly experiencing disaster events from those vulnerable to future disaster or recovering from past perturbation have blurred as a single resilient life-cycle. Modulating this cyclical form of species existence has led to many claims for the utility of merging modernist distinctions (Mitchell and Harris 2012; IPCC 2012; Bahadur, Ibrahim, and Tanner 2010). Educating vulnerable communities in the art of resilient living, not only enables them to better resist external shock, those same resilience techniques of preparedness and adaptation have been argued to be essentially developmental in their effects. Because the vulnerable can learn from disaster, individuals have it within them to bounce back better. In neoliberalism's post-security environments of uncertainty and surprise, disaster has become, quite literally, the new development.

While resilience and neoliberalism are different, the cost of collaboration, if you will, has been for resilience to adopt the double-truth structure of neoliberalism (Mirowski 2013: 68-72). In relation to disaster as development, for example, that we can detect something new in the longstanding tension within liberalism between freedom from and freedom to regimes of security (O'Malley 2009). Resilience embodies a new biopolitics that differs from the actuarial and protective biopolitics, first identified by Foucault (Foucault 1998, 2008), that underpins the great modernist project of Welfare Fordism. In contrast, in order to have a chance of working, resilience requires populations that are free of any interposing institutional, cultural or social forms of refuge or protection. Rather than seeing in vulnerability a critique of capitalist exploitation and dispossession, resilience is parasitic upon their existence. Closed or protected communities have to be opened-up or abandoned to contingency so they are free, after the fashion of rubber balls, to bounce back better; if they can. However, while the therapeutic value of ignorance and future uncertainty defines neoliberalism's public prescription for the hoi polloi, it cannot be taken for granted that vulnerable people would voluntarily throw-off modernist forms of social protection. Beginning with structural adjustment in the global-South, and continuing with the post-2008 austerity counter-strike in the global-North, there is a long history of dismantling, imposition and political diktat behind the Thought Collective's public urge to embrace future uncertainty by becoming resilient to it (Pierson 1994; Cornia, Jolly, and Stewart 1987).

In the name of freedom and economic efficiency, from the Welfare Fordist plateau of the 1970s, our direction of travel has involved a constructivist *re-tasking* of the state as a tool for the endless creation of markets and market-based solutions to future uncertainty that now define and integrate the human and natural worlds (Giddens 2009; Rockström et al. 2009). Usually flagged as deregulation, privatisation and globalisation, the neoliberal insurgency has successfully critiqued and dismantled earlier modernist technologies of protection and social insurance. However, while drawing legitimacy by presenting future risk as a new ontology of life, there are important differences, unevenness and partiality in how resilience is being prescribed and applied (Rohde 2012, 31 October). The communities and individuals that are being experimentally exposed to uncertainty are not elites, they are the non-elite multitude. The subjects of resilience are the masses who struggle to avoid becoming surplus to requirements (Evans and Reid 2013; Duffield 2007). They are the abandoned working poor who, through their own ingenuity and foresight, are expected to exist beyond collective forms of state-based social protection. The double-truth of resilience is that policy elites, reflecting the behaviour of the Neo-liberal Thought Collective generally, are not exposing their own personal lives to the future risk that they prescribe for aid beneficiaries and the working poor (Mitchell and Harris 2012); as far as they can, the elites are using their advantage to minimise, displace or avoid risk (O'Reilly 2011). As the response to the 2008 financial crisis has clearly shown, even the risk-taking casino capitalism we now endure under holy-writ demands the under-writing and last-resort protection of the public purse.

5. EMBRACING RISK VERSUS CARE-OF-THE-SELF

In geospatial terms, elites are withdrawing from the post-security terrains of permanent emergency into the world's proliferating private gated-complexes and cultural walled-gardens (Davis 2006). As global urban environments fragment and polarise (Siddaway 2007), elites are retreating from increasingly degraded and insecure public spaces to the safety of exclusive private spaces and times (Davis and Monk 2007). Occupying a strategic position on the frontier between the global-North and -South, a space where having an international status is an elite moniker, disaster as development is a good example of the double-truth of resilience. Since the 1990s, in response to the widely held belief that aid work is becoming more dangerous (Collinson and Elhawary 2012), international aid workers have retreated into the aid world's proliferating Green Zones, the iconic image of which is the fortified aid compound (Duffield 2010). This withdrawal has created a paradox of presence (Collinson et al. 2013). While aid agencies have declared themselves willing to stay and continue expanding within challenging environments, international aid workers themselves are becoming physically remote and insulated from the societies in which they work. While aid agencies proclaim their presence, within disaster zones that presence is increasingly virtual.

By withdrawing to secure gated-complexes in response to uncertainty, aid managers and donor representatives are avoiding the risks which, it is argued, aid beneficiaries must embrace if they are to bounce back better. However, while minimizing their own risk exposure, internationals do not deny their need for resilience. Compared to community-level disaster resilience, resilience for aid managers has a more subjective and psycho-social meaning that focuses on *care-of-the-self* techniques and sensibilities (Comoretto, Crichton, and Albery 2011). Reflecting the double-truth of resilience, while aid beneficiaries are expected to embrace future risk, international managers are encouraged to prioritise care-of-theself (IRIN 2010). Although these two orientations are different, they interconnect and complement each other. For internationals working in uncertain post-security aid environments, the need for constant vigilance and risk management, a form of paranoia directly reinforced by field-security training (Duffield 2010), produces daily stress and anxiety (Watkins 2012, 10 May; Worth 2012). The justification for care-of-the-self resilience is that you cannot maintain vigilance and preparedness, and work effectively, without learning from, adapting to and managing the immanent trauma of the real (IRIN 2010). Importantly, this narcissistic understanding of resilience does not contradict the growing bunkerisation of the international aid industry. Subjective careof-the self is a defining feature of the inner psycho-social furniture of the bunker.

Care-of-the-self training, which has spread from the military and emergency responders in the global-North to international aid workers, has been likened to putting on mental armour (Archilles Initiative 2013). It reflects a move away from trying to cure PTSD, to sidestepping and preventing it happening in the first place (Howell 2012; O'Malley 2010). Careof-the-self training tends to be formulaic and generic. It stresses healthy living and being an active part of a supportive social network in which learning to recognise burn-out in oneself and others is important. Positive thinking and avoiding negative thought patterns are key attributes. Given that contemporary approaches to disaster trauma liken it to a contagious disease that humanitarian responders can catch (Summerfield 2001), developing emotional distance is essential for subjective resilience. From this narcissistic perspective, the exclusivity of the bunker provides a safe refuge to regain emotional distance. The fortified aid compound is more than a defensive

structure ringed with security protocols; it's a necessary therapeutic architecture separating international aid managers from the real and imagined horrors beyond its walls.

6. ACCESSING COMMERCIAL GEOSPATIAL TECHNOLOGY

Attempts to address the problems associated with the growing in-country segregation of international aid managers from the societies in which they work, have largely been addressed through an expansion of remote management (Norman 2012; Hüls 2011). This subsumes various attempts by terrestrial managers to work at arm's length through local aid workers, local NGOs, private contractors and armed groups. The utility of such auxiliaries and partners is that they lie outside the restrictive security protocols governing the movement of international aid workers. It should be noted that an estimated ninety per cent of all aid workers are recruited locally (Egeland, Harmer, and Stoddard 2011). Accounting for the majority of security expenditure, in-country internationals are by comparison an expensive high-maintenance minority. Remote management involves risk-transfer to a widening range of local intermediaries. However, increasing the number of subcontractors has meant that funding, accounting and responsibility is now divided between many often competing bodies. While allowing managers to work safely, remote management has compounded the problem of physical segregation by decreasing transparency, as the organizational layers separating HQ policy intent from on-the-ground completion have multiplied (da Costa and Karlsrud 2012; Lemay-Herbet 2011). Access denial coupled with remote management has produced a crisis of ground-truth within disaster zones.

Since the mid 1990s, there has been growing humanitarian interest in geospatial and remote technologies that, in various ways, help overcome problems associated with physical distance, access denial and the demands for immediacy. Geospatial technology is a broad term. It involves the computer-based acquisition, mapping, modelling, analysis and visual presentation of spatially referenced data derived from global positioning system or GPS applications (Verjee 2005). Traditionally dominated by satellite remote sensing, since the mid 2000s the geospatial has expanded to include the Web 2.0 revolution, underpinned by the rapid spread of cheap geo-located mobile phones and tablet devices, and the advent of Big Data as the Network has risen to dominance as a source of information, commercial exchange, service provision, user self-broadcasting and, not least, social networking (Bollier 2010). The intelligence mined from the electronic trace left by the exchange of digital information, apart from overarching military and security applications, is now widely used to inform and enact commercial and government decision-making, from the environment and urban management, through to accessing benefits, shaping consumer choice and market prediction (Mayer-Schonberger and Cukier 2013). Mobile and internet-based technology is also expanding fast in the global-South, where it is leapfrogging over wrecked, decayed or non-existent terrestrial telecommunication systems (de Bruijin, Nyamnjoh, and Brinkman 2009). In the process, it is laying the geospatial infrastructure and regional market support that underpin cyber-humanitarianism's conditions of possibility (UNO-CHA 2013: 12-13).

Relative to other sectors, humanitarian organizations are coming late to the potential of these technologies. Initially pioneered by military funding and war-making demands, since the end of the Cold War geospatial technologies have spread rapidly throughout the commercial and business worlds. Today the leading-edge of these technologies is composed of private companies and corporations. Even twenty years ago, however, they were still largely military and restricted (Verjee 2005). Moreover, in order to access these commercial geospatial products, as will be illustrated in relation to Darfur, from the start, humanitarian agencies have been dependent upon forging new public-private partnerships with this emergent commercially-driven sector (Bally et al. 2005).

During the Cold War the development of computer-based satellite remote sensing, GIS mapping, visualisation and simulation technologies were military-led. However, in the US at least, this drive always had a strong state-corporate character (Hanchard 2012). Think-tanks like RAND and the major aerospace companies formed strategic partnerships with the military in developing geospatial technology (Jardini 1998). Reflecting current technological boosterism, there were concerted attempts to re-harness military and space-race systems-analysis, that is, computer-based management and logistical applications, to solve social problems within the United States. Notably, the urban war on poverty during the 1960s and early 70s (Ibid., Light 2003). Apart from economising welfare bureaucracy, while rendering mechanical informational and computational skills redundant, a civilian systems-analysis did little to actually solve urban poverty (Ibid.). Such programmes, however, helped forge the celebrated military-industrial complex. In the geospatial sector, while commercial companies grew and multiplied, the military remained the drivers of the technology and expertise. Although low-resolution commercial satellite remote sensing systems were launched, a

Superpower high-resolution monopoly lasted until the end of the Cold War (Verjee 2005).

In the mid-1990s, as part of the wider deregulation, privatisation and globalisation of critical infrastructure systems (Collier and Lakoff 2006), the Clinton administration introduced several crucial geospatial reforms that allowed the rapid privatisation and commercialisation of military technologies and data-sets (Verjee 2005.). In 1993, the military global GPS system was progressively opened to civilian use. Today even cheap mobile GPS technology can locate any place on earth to within an accuracy of several metres. The following year, Clinton declassified military imaging sensors and authorised private US firms to launch and operate commercial highresolution satellites. While the Defence Department retains shutter control in exceptional circumstances, many private companies now operate high-resolution satellite systems giving less than a metre ground resolution, or the area covered by one pixel (Hayes 2012).

Although the military retains a technological edge, commercialisation has changed the nature of the public-private partnerships in the geospatial sector. Expanding alongside a growing societal security market (Goss 1995; Shane 2012, 13 August; Ellsberg 2013), these quintessentially dual-use technologies have blurred military and civilian interests in new ways (Harris 2006). In particular, private-sector start-ups, companies and corporations now own and drive this machine-driven military-industrial-environment complex (Duffield and Evans 2011). The military now regularly enters commercial contracts to purchase geospatial products from independent suppliers. In 2001, for example, the US military agreed exclusive user contracts with a number of commercial remote sensing agencies in order to access their high-resolution Afghanistan over-flight images (Ackerman 2001). This

material was used for deployment rehearsals, battle damage assessment, and humanitarian airdrops. The military also exploits opensource mapping software, like Google Earth (MapAction 2008, April). While technically limited, it's useful because it is declassified, as a huge user-base, and is easy to learn compared to earlier, but more sophisticated, human skill-based GIS software programmes. Together with other open-source platforms, Google Earth allows the military to share terrain visualisations, interactive maps and metadata analysis with, for example, humanitarian agencies and affected populations in disaster situations (Harvard Humanitarian Initiative 2011).

7. REMOTE SENSING IN COMPLEX EMERGENCIES

During the 1990s, humanitarian organizations struggled with the cost of remote imaging and accessing the expertise to interpret it. However, by the end of the decade, the UN and ICRC had begun to access geospatial products through public-private partnerships like UNOSAT and RESPOND, or state-supported research networks like the EU's Joint Research Centre (JRC) (Hanchard 2012). Such first-wave consortia typically brought together, in varying combinations and different terms of agreement, national space agencies, university research facilities, private geospatial companies with senior UN or other humanitarian representatives (Verjee 2007). These geospatial partnerships aspired to leverage private sector technology, expertise and data philanthropy to meet urgent humanitarian needs. This was the organizational background to UNHCR's first use, in the late 1990s, of geospatial technology to remotely sense refugee populations in the Balkans, Kenya, and Nepal. Supported by a consortium of European companies (ENVIREF), this was the first application of geospatial technology to chronic conflict-related emergencies, or what the UN calls *complex emergencies* (Verjee 2005). It demonstrated the feasibility of extracting humanitarian intelligence from commercial high-resolution images of refugee camps and their surrounding environs.

Remote sensing technologies transform refugees into problems of cryptanalysis. That is, as a problem of interpreting the digital human terrain as revealed by commercial high-resolution satellite imagery (Bjorgo 2002). Separated by a techno-discursive distance between the observer and the observed, remote sensing reveals both objects on the ground and, through the digital trace of their existence and activities, a photographable and therefore objective surveillant subject (Harris 2006). From a disaster management perspective, the refugee is a problem of environmental interpretation. According to UNHCR, Google Earth not only has the ability to show the vital work it is doing in difficult-to-access locations, by showing this work in its geographical context, "...we can really highlight the challenges we face on the ground and how we tackle them" (Batty 2008, 8 April). Remote imagery and computer geolocational mapping reveals the eco-system in which camps are situated. Pushing the politics of forced migration into the background, refugee surveillant subjects are relational products of water availability, soil conditions, forest services, lines of communication, logistical capacity, armed threats and terrestrial aid infrastructure and access. Locked-into their environment, however, as dispossessed surveillant subjects, refugees figure in this emergent threat-landscape as emblematic of a species-life that possesses enviable

fast-adaptive powers to turn an austere environment to their advantage.

At the onset of the Darfur emergency in 2004, UNHCR asked UNOSAT to explore groundwater reserves in Chad sufficient to support Darfur refugees (Bally et al. 2005). Within months, the consortia had procured accurate water supply target maps, which UNHCR used to optimize the location of some of its Chad camps. As the emergency deepened, by December 2005 there were 1.5 million Internally Disposed Persons (IDPs) within Darfur. UNHCR asked the RE-SPOND consortia to supply thematic mapping and route planning data. Over the next couple of years, besides humanitarian activity maps for UNOCHA, RESPOND supplied a range of cartographic products to donors, UN agencies and NGOs (Donnelly 2012, 30 July). These included area resource maps, camp infrastructure, water availability, transportation, etc. Using ten different sensors from nine spacecraft, RESPOND supplied geospatial data under a number of public-private agreements (Hanchard 2012).

Since the mid-1990s, refugee camps have been increasingly militarized and securitized, and local restrictions on international access have grown. In Darfur, for example, many camps are controlled or contested by opposition groups (Kahn 2008). Refugee/IDP remote sensing has grown in scope and accuracy in concert with the deepening crisis of access. The scientific literature on the geospatial dimensions of the Darfur emergency frequently cites the danger on the ground for international aid workers (Sulik and Edwards 2010). From the start of the emergency, the EU's JRC worked on the problem of remotely measuring Darfur's volatile IDP populations. By the end of the 2000s, scientists had developed algorithms to do this automatically and to acceptable accuracy, without the need for ground truth (Lang et al. 2010; Kranz et al. 2010; Kemper et al. 2011). Toward the end of the 2000s, helped by data philanthropy, organizations like Amnesty International began to use geospatial technology, including renting their own satellite time, to remotely look for evidence of human rights abuse in places like Darfur, where it was judged unsafe to put monitors on the ground (Prins 2008; Sulik and Edwards 2010).

The growing ability to sense, map and ecologically interpret from space has developed dynamically with the crisis of humanitarian access. As the former has grown in accuracy, timeliness and availability, it has also tended to normalise the resulting crisis of groundtruth. Access denial is a temporary limit-point as science mobilises to surmount it. The blow-back, however, is that when geospatial technologies are successful in overcoming remoteness, they simultaneously reinforce the techno-discursive distance between the observer and the observed. Writing over half a century ago, the rise of cyber-humanitarianism has proven to be a good example of what Hanna Arendt called world alienation (Arendt 1998). In order to get a better view, the scientific urge is to disentangle itself from all that is subjective in exchange for the objectivity of the image, the dataset, the model and simulation. The price of shrinking the globe to the scale of human senses results in simultaneous distancing or remoteness from the world.

8. WEB 2.0 AND CYBER-HUMANITARIANISM

By the mid 2000s, geospatial take-up among humanitarian organizations was still relatively limited, and as in the case of Darfur, was mainly concerned with cartographic products. Aid agencies had not embraced remote technology, data-analytics and simulation to the same extent as the world of corporate security and consumerism. However, the growing list of feasibility studies, including Darfur's multiple experiments, encouraged scientists to predict a humanitarian future in which geospatial technologies would provide effective tools for optimizing campsite selection, providing environmental surveys, tracking fluctuating IDP movements and, not least, informing and improving humanitarian logistics (Verjee 2007). However, this modernist managerial view was short-lived. It saw remote technologies as positively augmenting the UN's traditional command-and-control systems. In less than a decade, however, new Network developments had created the conditions of possibility to move beyond these systems, rendering most of them redundant (Zlatanova et al. 2010; UNOCHA 2013).

Google Earth (GE) was launched in 2005. Besides its immersive character, GE is an open-mapping platform able to deliver, for free, resolutions as high as 10 cm in some locations (Hanchard 2012). While limited as a mapping tool, GE technology is adequate for most humanitarian visualisation needs. Besides usability, however, an open platform also makes cheap digital dissemination of agency news and views possible. New interactive geolocated platforms like Ushadi and StreetMap have emerged that use the Net to provide machine-driven ways of interactively reconnecting aid programmes and public opinion in the global-North (Satellite Sentinel Project 2012, 24 July; UNOCHA 2013). In 2008, UNHCR entered a partnership with GE with the creation of Google Earth Outreach (MapAction 2008, April; Dobbs 2008, 8 April). The sensing and mapping of refugee/ IDP populations in difficult to access environments was an important aim. GE's outreach programme gives humanitarian agencies the skills and resources to overlay text, audio and video information onto GE maps, thus enabling them to bring boiler-plate versions of their humanitarian work to globally-networked audiences (Batty 2008, 8 April).

The addition of a number of UNHCR layers to the GE package has made it possible for the observer to *zoom-in* or *fly-through* no-go environments like Chad-Darfur border, Colombia or Iraq. Simply by sitting in front of your computer, with a few clicks, it is now possible to "...see, hear and develop an emotional understanding of what it is like to be a refugee" (UNHCR 2008). To date, Darfur is GE's biggest visualisation project. Based around photographs, video clips, models and testimonies, the template has a number of levels of detail.¹ Besides camp fly-throughs, opening layers provide an overview of UN-HCR's regional terrestrial activities. Moving closer to the ground, links to refugee health, education, or water access can be interactively explored. The final layers allow local-level depictions of camp infrastructure, its surrounding environment and, importantly, access to individual IDP narratives (USHMM 2009).

In terms of the movement from modernist conceptions of disaster being outside of society to its postmodernist internalisation, cyber-humanitarianism deepens this trend through narcissistic technologies of proximity and simulation that, on the basis of synthetic experience, invite the observer to empathise by 'experiencing' the refugee condition. While Google Layers aim to encourage emotional understanding, refugee-based video games, produced in collaboration with humanitarian agencies, go further by allow-

¹ See, United State Holocaust Memorial Museum (USHMM) project *Crisis in Darfur* at http://www.google.com/earth/outreach/stories/darfur.html (accessed 5 May 2013)

ing the observer to turn player and 'become' a refugee. As the player navigates the difficulties of fleeing a country, moving through dangerous border regions and starting a new life in austere and unfriendly exile, the game Against all Odds, produced by UNHCR in collaboration with Microsoft and several media companies, is described as letting you "...experience what it's like to be a refugee" (UN-HCR 2005). The UN Regional Information Centre for Western Europe (UNRIC) together with the mtvU student media group at the University of Southern California, has produced Darfur is Dying. This simulation allows players to negotiate the "...forces that threaten the survival of his or her refugee camp. It offers a faint glimpse of what it's like for the more than 2.5 million who have been internally displaced by the crisis in Sudan" (HRE 2009). The common denominator linking such simulations is that the refugee environment is harsh, unrelenting and uncertain. Remote sensing transforms refugees into products of their environment, interactive layers allow observers to glimpse the life of the refugee, while simulation completes the narcissistic journey as observers turn players and, for a while, become imagined refugees.

Boosted by geo-located open-mapping platforms and simulations, the radical potential of Web 2.0 mobile broadcasting applications has quickly unfolded (Eagle and Pentland 2006). Reflecting the rise to dominance of a neoliberal re-tasking of state and economy, the ability to commercially mine social media for surveillant-intelligence, together with the Web 2.0 booster embrace of disaster-resilience as its humanitarian vision (Meier 2013, 9 April; Global Pulse 2009), gives cyber-humanitarianism a neoliberal feel. Not least, saving of life becomes conditional upon a free-market in information, a market that the US corporate sector now dominates. Cyber-humanitarianism completes the abandonment of modernist technologies of protection and rescue in favour of a hyper-bunkered system of disaster management dedicated to modulating the moods and behaviour of non-elites as they adapt to permanent emergency.

Since 2009, the UN's Global Pulse project has been experimenting with applying Big Data for addressing poverty, hunger and disease. GP is using Big Data to search for anomalies in the human eco-system, especially how people in the global-South are responding to financial and climatic volatility (Ibid). Using advanced algorithms and visualisation techniques, it aims to produce new tools for sense making. For example, if a family falls into poverty, its members can be expected to alter their digital behaviour. One can expect a decrease in mobile top-ups, depletion of mobile banking accounts, attempts to sell goods online, and a growth in tweets concerning high prices or shortages. By coupling satellite imagery, and commercial visualisations of anomalies in traffic flow, mobile banking or electricity usage, with UN remote datasets on food aid or school attendance, operating near-real time, Global Pulse promises immediacy and nuance in terms of policy response. However, from the first tentative steps to visualise refugee camps in the late 1990s, to the ability today to integrate satellite imagery and the mapping of terrain with other localised GIS socio-economic datasets has spread beyond the UN to a raft of NGO, advocacy groups and think-tanks with their increasing embrace of remote methodologies to counter the problem of access denial. Such agencies, for example, are now able to analyse the developmental effects of the local-sending of pirate ransoms in Punt Land (Shortland 2012). Or, provide a visual insight into the ecological effects of ethnic-infighting for

control of Northern Darfur's gold mining areas (Ismail and Kumar 2013). Importantly, remote evaluative methodologies mean that principal investigators or consultants no longer need to be in-country, let alone in the area concerned.

Achieving an all-encompassing humanitarian awareness is similar to the modalities of military battle-space awareness. Whereas the military is ahead in the interoperability of its machine-intelligence, surveillance and reconnaissance platforms with human-assisted analysis, targeting and response systems (Harris 2006; Brunner and Cavelty 2009), humanitarian organizations are playing catch-up as they become adopters of these emergent technologies. Since Katrina in 2005, each major disaster, like the Haiti earthquake, Pakistan floods, New Zeeland earthquake, the Japanese Tsunami and Hurricane Sandy, appear as cyber-humanitarian laboratories, each producing new and better ways for extracting, analysing and applying humanitarian intelligence derived from remote technologies (UNOCHA 2013: 30). In terms of political economy, this technological embrace is inseparable from the deepening and expanding humanitarian public-private partnerships, the first wave of which emerged in the 1990s (see above). This time, however, they operate beyond UN linkages with national space agencies, university research departments and commercial geospatial companies. The second wave embraces the new actors in the cyber-landscape. Apart from the disaster-victims destined to become adaptive self-organising communities, this includes the start-up companies, corporate satellites and, importantly, the self-organising voluntary networks that reflect what Richard Barbrook and Andy Cameron have called the California Ideology (Barbrook and Cameron 1995). That is, the peculiar blurring of hippy libertarianism with the raw frontier neoliberalism of Silicon Valley.

We've suddenly moved from the scarcity of satellite intelligence, to an abundance of information. Indeed, a data deluge. What we could call the human trace is the exponentially growing machine memory that is stored and warehoused by commercial companies and governments, and gleaned from people as they digitalise their lives. A measure of this exponential growth is that the store of available data gets younger and younger (Bollier 2010). The stock less than a day old, or a week old, increases by the minute; Big Data calls this trace digital exhaust. Depending on what is being looked for, the goal is to turn this growing mountain of digital waste into something valuable by algorithmically sorting the useful from the useless. The result is value-added information or intelligence. It is the promise of near-real time intelligence on the moods, sentiments and behaviour of a given population that underlies the radical claims for Big Data. Whereas satellite remote sensing provides visualisation and GIS mapping capabilities for disaster management, Big Data promises an abundance of what had been difficult in the past; the interpretation of the human terrain. In this respect, GIS systems add unprecedented geographical precision to data. While remote sensing has been a growing part of disaster management since the 1990s, today, however,

... technology once limited to experts and institutions is available to anyone. This has allowed groups of self-organizing volunteers to place SMS messages and social media postings on dynamic maps, highlighting clusters of cries for help in an earthquake, or identifying where roads have been washed away after a flood (UNOCHA 2013: 28).

The low-cost informational technologies that currently reflect the *zeitgeist* of the Network Age include crowd-sourcing, crowd-seeding and mobile-cash. Crowd-sourcing involves problem-solving by asking a distributed group of people, often volunteers, to complete a certain task. While reviewing goods and services is common in the global-North, for cyber-humanitarianism crowd-sourcing usually involves seeking and validating information directly from disaster-affected populations. At the same time, the derived technical information tasks, such as mapping, translating and integrating useful data, can be outsourced to other crowds, including technical volunteer networks able to live anywhere there is a connection. In 2010, for example, the Standby Task Force (SBTF), comprised seven-hundred technical volunteers in seventy countries divided into ten teams providing support for humanitarian responders. Since then, SBTF has been mobilised in more that twenty-two crises, has worked with UNO-CHA, USAID, Amnesty International and Oxfam, and provided support for Syrian diaspora and Sudanese civil society groups.² SBTF has also been incorporated into the Digital Humanitarian Network as a network of networks designed to interface between formal humanitarian agencies and "...informal yet skilled-and-agile volunteer and technical networks" (Ibid: 30).

As a cybernetic learning-machine, cyber-humanitarianism promises to reconnect and reorganise disaster-affected populations, responders, voluntary-networks and public constituencies in new ways. While this is the essence of Web 2.0 radicalism, in many respects, the essential technologies and desired institutions that constitute the cyber-humanitarianism vision are not particularly *nem*. Being able to call forth self-reliant and self-organising subject-communities, for example, has been the dream of liberal development since the industrial revolution (Cowen and Shenton 1996; Duffield 2007). At the same time, many of the political and economic problems of the 1960s, like climate change, health pandemics, terrorism, debt relief and global poverty are still around today. At the same time, like these problems, our conception of an imminent computerised future has also remained relatively fixed.

As in the mid-1960s, the invention of artificial intelligence and the advent of information society was still only a couple of decades away. The present is continually changing, but the imaginary future is always the same (Barbrook 2007: 9).

While periodically rejuvenated, the realisation of McLuhan's vision of the *global-village* has been immanent for the last fifty years.

The singularity of cyber-humanitarianism, however, is that it blends the longstanding liberal will to govern through self-reliant subjects with the immanent realisation of the digital global-village. While cyber-humanitarian boosters will admit that promoting self-reliance has been difficult in the past, a new and optimistic technological-determinism now claims that the Network creates the conditions of possibility for innovative ways of governing through self-organising communities as they adapt to, and emerge from, permanent emergency. Despite the longevity of self-reliance as a liberal aim, a deepening jobs crisis, economic polarization and the collapse of generational social mobility are once again blighting Europe (IFRC 2013). Within the expanding space of the global-South, for most non-elites, as mounting political frustration shows, the reality of information-aided self-reliance falls significantly below their material and political

² See, Standby Task Force (SBTF) website, http://<u>b</u>log.standbytaskforce.com (accessed 3 May 2013).

expectations (Bradbury and Kleinman 2010). At the same time, uncritical media boosterism of (the not so) new technology renews the faith that the completion of the last global circuit to allow the global village to blink into life is now imminent. Unlike the techno-scientific imaginaries of Welfare Fordism, however, where workers were encouraged to see themselves and their families as future space tourists or the soon to be owners of personal robots (Barbrook 2013), today's advances in computing, artificial intelligence and genetic decoding look more like technologies that, if anything, will shape new forms of elite consumption. For non-elites, rather than being waited upon by personal robots, advance in artificial intelligence has translated into the disappearance of skilled and professional work (Lanier 2013) as the distributional bell-curves of the past become the power-curves of a neoliberal Network society (Bollier 2013).

9. DISASTER-RESILIENCE IN THE NETWORK AGE

As a condition of continued capitalist growth and profitability under neoliberal conditions, states and corporations are abandoning any direct sense of social or collective responsibility; they are vacating the social landscape (Scarpati 2013, 17 May; Channel 4 2013, 9 September). When viewed as a business-plan, cyber-humanitarianism is selling a technological fix against an imaginary future of permanent emergency. Governing this austere, post-security dystopia remotely has evolved into a core public-private concern. To compensate for the absence of state and corporate responsibility, as a business-plan, resilience requires ever-greater powers of self-management and self-reproduction, including responsibilities for the self-repair and maintenance of critical infrastructure (UNO-CHA 2013, 10-12; Linskey 2013, 22 August), from surveillant subjects now 'free' of the expectation of public protection and hence state dependency. Already trialled in the global-South as structural adjustment, for nonelites in the global-North, it's the beginning of what, for many, is their bewildering journey to the South.

The UN's Office for Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs recently launched a new discussion document (UNOCHA 2013) entitled Humanitarianism in the Network Age. This is the latest in a growing number of policy documents advocating the humanitarian-utility of remote sensing and Big Data analytics (Donnelly 2012, 30 July; Hanchard 2012; Bollier 2010). The Network Age was well received among the techno-savvy in the aid industry and the geospatial blogosphere leaders (Meier 2013, 9 April). Reflecting the technological determinism underlying this literature, the tone of Network Age is one that critics have dubbed cyber-optimism (Morozov 2011). While advocates admit that there are important privacy and ethical issues to be overcome, together with serious questions relating to corporate ownership and the dangers of humanitarian organizations working with for-profit organizations, it is argued that "...the existence of a common goal (saving lives) and a shared basic drive (the desire to help) suggests a potential for deeper partnerships" (UNOCHA 2013: 18). Interestingly, this appeal to an overriding common goal is a remix of the argument used at the end of the 1990s, to support the merger of aid and politics in the organizational form of the UN integrated mission (Macrae and Leader 2000). However, subsequent experience has shown that, despite common goal claims, this merger remains problematic and the goal of coherence unfulfilled (Duffield, Gossman, and Leader 2002; Eide et al. 2005). For humanitarian agencies and the corporate sector, rather than lowest common-denominator claims about a wish to save lives, one platform that does unequivocally bring them together is their mutual pursuit of resilience among surveillant populations.³

In the illustrative disaster examples drawn from the global-North and South that are glossed in OCHA's Network Age report, the state is noticeable by its absence. People no longer dial the emergency services, they broadcast their plight on Twitter or Facebook. Reflecting the post-Katrina acceptance that emergency responders will not always be on every street corner, neither do self-broadcasters necessarily receive in return, if you will, a bed for the night (Reiff 2002). That is, material assistance. Almost "...like a biological or ecological system", what they receive is value-added information, as to how they can best help themselves, or where they can find others among them who are willing and able to help (Meier 2010, 12 August). Following commercial and urban management applications in the global-North, not only are disaster victims expected to be members of self-organising and self-repairing communities, things like needs assessment are no longer seen as an external professional responsibility. People now have the technological means to make their own decisions known.

Whereas aid agencies once made assumptions about people's needs in a crisis, people now have the tools to say what they need and want. By using technology to engage with their own networks, communities and individuals are determining how to help themselves and how they want to be helped *by others*, mobilizing local, national and sometimes global support to meet their needs (UNOCHA 2013: 13, emphasis added).

Orchestrating competitions between disaster-affected populations to make their case for humanitarian assistance - perhaps on dedicated reality-TV channels - would appear to be our direction of travel. Subject to peer verification and the decision of credibility-testing algorithms (Li, Zhao, and Li 2011), self-assessment has radical implications for existing humanitarian terrestrial infrastructure and its associated professional skills relating to health, shelter or nutritional and educational needs. However, while professional terrestrial skills are becoming surplus to requirements, apart from data-skills to deal with the volume and complexity of information flows, new actors and skills are emerging relating to "...using that information" (UNOCHA 2013: 21). Customer-care, media development, ethical and privacy expertise are growing in importance as part of the wider marketing of humanitarian intelligence. As disaster-affected communities mobilize around the competitive broadcasting of their own needs, managing expectations will become vital since people "...expect their communications to generate action" (Ibid: 38). Rising expectations put pressure on humanitarian responders,

... to define what they can and cannot provide. The extent of communities' desires may exceed their immediate life-saving needs, raising expectations beyond those that humanitarian responders can meet. This can have dangerous consequences. Expectation management has always been important, it will become more so in the network age (Ibid: 39).

³ For the synergy between resilience and neoliberal economics see (Walker and Cooper 2011).

Ousting top-down forms of modernist intervention and protection, international development took a non-material turn during the 1980s. It reflected the victory of Schumacher's vision of small-scale NGO-led education projects, micro-finance and local incentives to promote social reorganisation around sustainable self-management (Schumacher 1974). Today, non-materiality takes its ultimate form, not as Schumacher's gift of knowledge, however, with its commitment to face-to-face pedagogy and intermediate technology, but as a gift of value-added information, with the expectation that it will help surveillant-subjects adapt to a life of uncertainty. That it involves a move from face-to-face to face-to-screen relations, with important changes to ethical subjectivity, is neglected. Indeed, the cyber-literature tends to assume not only an equality between real and digital encounters but, if anything, the latter are hyper-real allowing for immediacy while shrinking distance and overcoming access problems. However, participative terrestrial aid partnerships with local communities have long been critiqued as masking unequal power relations (Cooke and Kothari 2001). When aid managers are remote and hyper-bunkered, it is difficult to see how these problems will be ameliorated. In an age of austerity when humanitarian relief assumes the non-materiality of information, one can well imagine that managing expectations downwards will become an important function of cyber-humanitarianism.

10. CONCLUDING ARGUMENT

Rather than facing the challenges of terrestrial humanitarian aid, disaster management now envisions a future of disaster-resilience for distant and hard to access populations orchestrated by hyper-bunkered aid managers. By modulating moods, expectations and actions through smart feedback, the drive is to digitally reconnect aid managers with the adaptive and self-organising communities preferred by neoliberalism. Moreover, the 'reality' of digital recoupment creates conditions of possibility that its advocates argue goes beyond the limits of actual face-to-face encounters. The passing of a world shaped by the noise of history, language and politics, is more than compensated by the emergence of a new and radical paradigm: the hyper-reality that is possible when humans, as electronic surveillant subjects, are objectively reconstituted through machine-based information decoding. Moreover, in placing the prime responsibility for management, repair and recovery on disaster-affected populations themselves, cyber-humanitarianism side-steps the moral and political tenants of liberal humanism: neutrality, autonomy, impartiality, protection and witness (Hopgood 2013). Since communities are now expected to help themselves, from needs assessment to infrastructural repair, in place of these contested face-to-face principles, cyber-humanitarianism substitutes a concern for privacy and ethics. The central issue being how far hyper-bunkered managers can go with the remotely gathered information they already possess.

The promise of the Network Age packs a powerful incentive for the humanitarian sector to reorganise around information and forge links with the new private partners that are boosting it. With the possibilities of data-mining now pressing the limits of human imagination, real-time, multi-spectrum opportunities for reconnecting observers and the distantly observed interactively can now be glimpsed on the horizon. Cyber-humanitarianism builds on the already outlined change in how we understand disasters, that is, from accidents occurring outside society to being internal to the working of society itself. It deepens this process of internalisation, pushing it beyond livelihoods to embrace the world of lived emotions. Through remote sensing, modelling and simulation, face-to-face experience loses out to a computer-based ability to simulate hyper-real emotion and feeling, thus creating a cybernetic learning-machine. In addition to observing displaced-ecologies, humanitarian simulation promises a glimpse into the 'real' emotional world of the dispossessed as they confront a hostile, suspicious and unpredictable environment. The availability of simulated experience also extends to that of the humanitarian responder (MIT Game Lab 2013; Dabanga 2009). Simulations rehearse the problems that aid workers or journalists face while trying to work in hostile environments.

The corporations that are driving this cybernetic learning-machine are expanding their ability to store and analyse information. The creation of value-added data streams radically challenge traditional management structures. The current UN cluster-based model of disaster management, involving the collection of information, deciding a course of action and delivering humanitarian assistance through specialist networks, is now argued to be hamstrung by information silos and inter-agency secrecy; it has been declared a failure (UNOCHA 2013, 23-25). However, remote management profoundly changes the nature of humanitarian action. As already argued in relation to the ecological gaze, remote sensing marks a decisive break with history and language as a means of understanding the human condition. Causal forms of analysis dependent upon the politics of ground-truth are being replaced by computer-deduced correlations and relativities. Understanding the human condition has become a problem of cryptanalysis. While demanding new skills, cyber-humanitarianism also has the potential to render existing terrestrial humanitarian infrastructure and its associated professions largely redundant.

While some may consider cyber-humanitarianism as offering incremental or additional tools for existing aid agencies, the logic of cyber-humanitarianism is that of a radical paradigm shift. The humanitarian future will not be like the past. Rather than uncritically embracing this future, humanitarian agencies need to understand what exactly they are buying into. Not least, cyber-humanitarianism embodies the conditions of possibility for neoliberalism's biopolitical imperative - the abandonment of the world of peoples to permanent emergency while institutionalising the double-truth of resilience. The remote and smart technologies that are driving cyber-humanitarianism undoubtedly have progressive social potentialities. Freeing them of their security dual-use, however, requires the demilitarisation of their founding algorithms and democratisation of the platforms they now control. Demystifying technological fetishism by reducing smart technologies to their human determinants and necessary political economy is essential. In so doing, let us strive to affirm our humanity rather than denying it.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Ackerman, Robert K. 2001. Commercial Imagery Aid Afghanistan Operations. SIGNALonline, http://www.afcea.org/signal/articles/templates/SIGNAL_ Article_Template.asp?articleid=298&zoneid=84

Amin, Samir. 1974. Accumulation on a World Scale: A Critique of the Theory of Underdevelopment. New York: Monthly Review Press.

- Anderson, Mary B, and Peter J Woodrow. 1989. Rising from the Ashes: Development Strategies in Times of Disaster. Paris: Unesco & Westview Press.
- Achilles Initiative. *Intergration Training* Achilles Initiative 2013 [cited 4 September 2013. Available from http://www.integrationtraining.co.uk/achilles-initiative/
- Arendt, Hannah. 1998. The Human Condition. Chicago: University of Chicargo.
- Bahadur, Aditya V, Maggie Ibrahim, and Thomas Tanner. 2010. The resilience renaissance? Unpacking of resilience for tackling climate change and disasters. In *Strengthening Climate Resilience Discussion Paper 1*. Sussex: Institute of Development Studies.
- Baird, A, P O'Keefe, K Westgate, and B Wisner. 1975. Towards an Explanation and Reduction of Disaster Proneness In Occassional Papers: Number Eleven. University of Bradford: Disaster Research Unit.
- Bally, Philippe, Jerome Bequignon, Olivier Arino, and Stephen Briggs. 2005. Remote Sensing and Humanitarian Aid: A life-saving combination. In *esa bulletin 122*. Frascati, Italy: Earth Observation Programmes.
- Barbrook, Richard. 2013. Imaginary Futures: From thinking machines to the global village. London: Pluto Press.
- Barbrook, Richard, and Andy Cameron. *The Californian Ideology* The Hypermedia Research Centre 1995 [cited 6 September 2013. Available from http://www. hrc.wmin.ac.uk/theory-californianideology-main.html
- Batty, David. UN uses Google to pinpoint refugee crises. The Guardian. 2008, 8 April [cited 11 October 2013. Available from http://www.theguardian.com/ world/2008/apr/08/unitednations.sudan
- Bjorgo, Einar. Space Aid: Current and Potential Uses of Satellite Imagery in UN Humanitarian Organisations. United States Institute of Peace 2002 [cited 6 May 2013. Available from http://webharvest.gov/peth04/20041017064049/ http://www.usip.org/virtualdiplomacy/publications/reports/12.html
- Bollier, David. 2010. The Promise and Peril of Big Data. Washington DC: The Aspen Institute, Communications and Society Program.
- Bollier, David. 2013. The Power-Curve Society: The Future of Innovation, Opportunity and Social Equity in the Emerging Networked Economy. Washington DC: The Aspen Institute.
- Booth, David. 1993. "Development Research: From Impasse to a New Agenda " In *Beyond the Impasse: New Directions in Development Theory*, edited by Frans J Schurman, 49-76. London: Zed Books.

- Bradbury, Mark, and Michael Kleinman. 2010. Winning Hearts and Minds? Examining the Relationship Between Aid and Security in Kenya. Medford, MA: Feinstein International Centre, Tufts University.
- Brunner, Elgin M, and Myriam Dunn Cavelty. 2009. "The formation of information by the US military: articulation and enactment of informatic threat imaginaries on the immaterial battlefield of perception." *Review of International Affairs* no. 22 (4):626-646.
- Cannon, Terry, and Detlef Müller-Mahn. 2010. "Vulnerability, resilience and development discourses in the context of climate change." *Natural Hazards* no. 55:621-635.
- Channel 4. *Blackout* [TV Drama-Documentary]. Channel 4, 2013, 9 September [cited 15 October 2013. Available from http://www.channel4.com/ programmes/blackout/4od
- Chimni, B S. 1999. From Resettlement to Involuntary Repatriation: Towards a Critical History of Durable Solutions to Refugee Problems. Geneva: UNHCR Working Papers.
- Collier, Stephen J, and Andrew Lakoff. 2006. Vital Systems Security. Anthropology of the Contemporary Research Collaboratory (ARC).
- Collinson, Sarah, Mark Duffield, Carol Berger, Diana Felix da Costa, and Karl Sandstrom. 2013. Paradoxes of Presennce: Risk management and aid culture in challenging environments. London: Humanitarian Policy Group, Overseas Development Institute.
- Collinson, Sarah, and Samir Elhawary. 2012. Humanitarian Space: a review of trends and issues. In *HPG Report 32*. London: Humanitarian Policy Group, Overseas Development Institute.
- Comoretto, Amanda, Nicola Crichton, and Ian Albery. 2011. Resilience in Humanitarian Aid Workers: Understanding processes of development. London: Lambert Academic Publishing.
- Cooke, Bill, and Uma Kothari. 2001. Participation: The New Tryanny? London: Zed Books.
- Cornia, G A, R Jolly, and F Stewart. 1987. *Adjustment With a Human Face: Volume 1*. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Cornia, Giovanni Andrea. 1987. Economic Decline and Human Welfare in the First Half of the 1980s. Edited by G A Cornia, R Jolly and F Stewart, Adjustment With a Human Face: Volume 1. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Cowen, M P, and R W Shenton. 1996. *Doctrines of Development*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Crisp, Jeff. 2003. A new asylum paradigm? Globalisation, migration and the uncertain future of the international refugee regime. Geneva: Evaluation and Policy Analysis Unit, UNHCR.
- da Costa, Diana Felix, and John Karlsrud. 2012. The space between HQ policy and local action: Unpacking agency in negotiating local peacebuilding. In *Draft* Oslo: NUPI.

Dabanga, Radio. On the Ground Reporter. Radio Dabanga with Butch and Sundance Media, Directionaldesign.nl 2009 [cited 14 October 2013. Available from https://www.radiodabanga.org/darfurgame/english/game.html#

Davis, Mike. 2006. Planet of Slums. London & New York: Verso.

- Davis, Mike, and Bertrand Daniel Monk. 2007. *Evil Paradises: Dreamworlds of Neoliberalism.* New York & London: The New Press.
- Davis, Tracy C. 2007. *Stages of Emergency: Cold War Nuclear Civil Defense*. Durham, North Carolina: Duke University Press.
- de Bruijin, Mirjam, Francis Nyamnjoh, and Inge Brinkman. 2009. *Mobile Phones: The New Talking Drums of Everyday Africa*. Bamenda, Cameroon & Leiden: Langaa Research Group & Africa Studies Centre.
- de Waal, Alex. 1988. "Is Famine Relief Irrelevant to Rural People?" *IDS Bulletin* no. 20 (2):63-69.
- de Waal, Alex. 1989. Famine that Kills: Darfur, Sudan, 1984-85. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Deleuze, Gilles. 1995. Negotiations: 1972-1990. New York: Columbia University Press.
- DFID. 2011. Saving Lives, Preventing Suffering and Building Resilience: The UK Governments New Humanitarian Policy. London: Department for International Development.
- Dobbs, Leo. UNHCR and Google Earth unveil programme for humanitarian operations. UNHCR 2008, 8 April [cited 26 July 2012. Available from http://www. unhcr.org/news/NEWS/47fb8b5b2.html
- Donnelly, Rich. Crisis Mapping: A Multidisciplinary Effort. SPIE 2012, 30 July [cited 25 August 2013. Available from http://spie.org/x87811.xml
- Duffield, Mark. 1993. "NGOs, Disaster Relief and Asset Transfer in the Horn: Political Survival in a Permanent Emergency." *Development and Change* no. 24 (1):131-157.
- Duffield, Mark. 2001. Global Governance and the New Wars: The Merger of Development and Security. London: Zed Books.
- Duffield, Mark. 2007. Development, Security and Unending War: Governing the World of Peoples. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Duffield, Mark. 2010. "The Fortified Aid Compound: Everyday Life in Post-Interventionary Society." *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding* no. 4 (4):453-474.
- Duffield, Mark, and Brad Evans. 2011. "Biospheric Security: The Development-Security-Environment Nexus (DESNEX), Containment and Retrenching Fortress Europe." In *A Threat Against Europe? Security, Migration and Integration* edited by J Peter Burgess and Serge Gutwirth, 93-110. Brussels: Institute for European Studies.
- Duffield, Mark, Patricia Gossman, and Nicholas Leader. 2002. Review of the Strategic Framework for Afghanistan. Kabul and Islamabad: Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit (AREU).

- Eagle, Nathan, and Alex Pentland. 2006. "Reality Mining: sensing complex social systems." *Personal Ubiquitous Computing* (10):255-268.
- Edkins, Jenny. 2000. Whose Hunger? Concepts of Famine, Practices of Aid. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Edwards, Paul N. 2012. "Entangled histories: Climate science and nuclear weapons research." *Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists* no. 68 (4):28-40.
- Egeland, Jan, Adele Harmer, and Abby Stoddard. 2011. To Stay and Delivery: Good Practice for Humanitarians in Complex Security Environments.: Policy Development and Studies Bureau, UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA).
- Eide, Espen Barth, Anja Therese Kaspersen, Randolph Kent, and Karen von Hippel. 2005. Report on Integrated Missions: Practical Perspectives and Recommendations. UN ETCHA Core Group.
- Eldridge, E, and D Rydjiski. 1988. "Food Crises, Crisis Response and Emergency Preparedness." *Disasters* no. 12 (1):1-5.
- Ellsberg, Daniel. 2013. "Have we been saved from the United Stasi of America?" *The Guardian*, 11 June 2013, 30.
- Evans, Brad, and Julian Reid. 2013. "Dangerously Exposed: The Life and Death of the Resilient Subject." *Resilience: International Policies, Practices and Discourses* no. 1 (1):Forthcoming.
- Folke, Carl. 2006. "Resilience: The emergence of a perspective for socialecological systems analysis." *Global Environmental Change* no. 16 (3):253-267.
- Foucault, Michel. 1998. The Will to Knowledge: The History of Sexuality Volume 1. London: Penguin Books.
- Foucault, Michel. 2008. The Birth of Biopolitics: Lectures at the College De France, 1978-1979. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Giddens, Anthony. 2009. The Politics of Climate Change. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Global Pulse. 2012. *Global Pulse: Harnessing innovation to protect the vulnerable* 2009 [cited 2 October 2012 2012]. Available from http://www.unglobalpulse. org/
- Goss, Jon. 1995. "We Know Who You Are and We Know Where You Live: The Instrumental Rationality of Geodemographic Systems " *Economic Geography* no. 71 (2):171-198.
- Hanchard, Doug. 2012. Constructive Convergence: Imagery and Humanitarian Assistance. Washington DC: National Defence University, Institute for National Strategic Studies, Centre for Technology and National Security Policy.
- Harrell-Bond, Barbara. 1998. "Camps: literature review." *Forced Migration Review* no. 2:22-23.
- Harris, Chad. 2006. "The Omiscient Eye: Satellite Imagery, 'Battlespace Awareness,' and the Structures of Imperial Gaze." *Surveillance and Society* no. 4 (1-2):101-122.

- Harvard Humanitarian Initiative. 2011. Disaster Relief 2.0: The Future of Information Sharing in Humanitarian Emergencies Washington DC and Berkshire, UK: UN Foundation & Vodafone Technology Partnership.
- Hayes, Tim. 2012. DSS 2012: bringing new IR sensors to market Changes in military needs mean both challenges and opportunities for new IR sensing technologies. optics.org, http://optics.org/news/3/4/40
- Hewitt, Kenneth. 1983. "The idea of calamity in a technocratic age "In *Interprations of Calamity from the Viewpoint of Human Ecology*, edited by Kenneth Hewitt, 1-32. Boston, London & Sydney: Allen & Unwin Inc.
- HMG. 2010. A Strong Britain in an Age of Uncertainty: The National Security Strategy. London: Her Majesty's Government.
- Holling, Crawford S. 1973. "Resilience and Stability of Ecological Systems." Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics no. 4:1-23.
- Hopgood, Stephen. 2013. The Endtimes of Human Rights. Ithaca & London: Cornell University Press.
- Howell, Alison. 2012. "The Imminent Demise of PTSD: From Governing Trauma to Governance Through Resilience "*Alternatives: Global, Local, Political* no. 36 (2):36-49.
- HRE. Darfur is Dying [Computer game]. Human Rights Education, UN Regional Information Centre for Western Europe (UNRIC), developed by Reebok Human Rights Foundation, International Crisis Croup, mtvU and students at University of Southern California. 2009 [cited 14 October 2013. Available from http://www.humanrightseducation.info/game-darfur-is-dying.html
- Hüls, Volker. Remote Management of Humanitarian Assistance: A Primer. lawanddevelopment.org. 2011 [cited 24 July 2012. Available from http:// lawanddevelopment.org/articles/remotemanagement.html
- Hutchinson, R A. 1991. Fighting for Survival: Insecurity, People and the Environment in the Horn of Africa. Gland, Switzerland: International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources (IUCN).
- Huysmans, Jef. 2000. "The European Union and the Securitization of Migration." Journal of Common Market Studies no. 38 (5):751-777.
- IFRC. 2013. Think differently: Humanitarian impacts of the economic crisis in Europe. Geneva: International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies.
- IPCC. 2012. Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaption: A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). edited by CB Field, V Barros, TF Stocker, D Qin, DJ Dokken, KL Ebi, MD Mastrandrea, KJ Mach, G-K Plattner, SK Allen, M Tignor and Midgley PM. Cambridge & New York Cambridge University Press.
- IRIN. 2010. Health: Aiding Aid Workers In *Humanitarian News and Analysis*: UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs.

- Ismail, Omer, and Akshaya Kumar. 2013. Darfur's Gold Rush: State-Sponsored Atrocities 10 Years After the Genocide. Washington: The Enough Project -Satellite Sentinel Project.
- Jardini, David R. Out of the Blue Yonder: How RAND Diversified into Social Welfare Research. RAND 1998 [cited 21 November 2012 Available from http://www. rand.org/publications/randreview/issues/rr-fall-98/blue.html
- Kahn, Clea. 2008. Conflict, Arms, and Militarization: The Dynamics of Darfur's IDP Camps. Geneva: Small Arms Survey, Graduate Institute of International and Development Studies.
- Karadawi, Ahmed. 1999. Refugee Policy in Sudan: 1967-1984. New York: Berghahn Books.
- Kemper, Thomas, Malgorzata Jenerowicz, Martino Pesaresi, and Pierre Soille. 2011. "Enumeration of Dwellings in Darfur Camps from GeoEye-1 Satellite Images Using Mathematical Morphology." *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observation and Remote Sensing* no. 4 (1):8-15.
- Kent, R C. 1987. *Anatomy of Disaster Relief: The International Network in Action.* London: Pinter Publishers.
- Kranz, Olaf, Veronica Gstaiger, Stefan Lang, Dirk Tiede, Zeug Gunter, Thomas Kemper, Pablo Vega Ezquieta, and Stephen Clandillon. *Different Approches* for IDP Camp Analyses in West Darfur (Sudan) - a status report. Politencnino di Torino, 2010 [cited 1 August 2012. Available from http://publications.jrc. ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/11111111/16251
- Lang, Stefan, Dirk Tiede, Daniel Hölbling, Petra Füreder, and Peter Zeil. 2010. "Earth Observation (EO)-based ex post assessment of internally displaced person (IDP) camp evolution and population dynamics in Zam Zam, Darfur." *International Journal of Remote Sensing* no. 31 (21):5709-5731.
- Lanier, Jaron. 2013. Who Owns the Future London: Allen Lane.
- Lemay-Herbet, Nicolas. 2011. "The Bifurcation of the Two Worlds: assessing the gap between internationals and locals in state-building processes." *Third World Quarterly* no. 32 (10):1823-1841.
- Li, X R, Zhanlue Zhao, and Xiao-Bai Li. 2011. "Evaluation of Estimation Algorithms: Credibility Tests." *Systems, Man and Cybernetics, Part A: Systems and Humans* no. 42 (1):147-163.
- Light, Jennifer S. 2003. From Warfare to Welfare: Defense Intellectuals and Urban Problems in Cold War America. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Linskey, Annie. FEMA's New Flood Maps Pressure Homeowners to Raise Their Houses. BloombergBusinessweek: Politics & Policy 2013, 22 August [cited 5 September 2013. Available from http://www.businessweek.com/ articles/2013-08-22/femas-new-flood-maps-pressure-homeowners-toraise-their-houses
- Loescher, Gil, and James Milner. 2004. "Protracted refugee situations and state and regional insecurity." *Conflict, Security and Development* no. 4 (1):3-20.

- Macrae, Joanna, and Nicholas Leader. 2000. Shifting Sands: The Search for 'Coherence' Between Political and Humanitarian Responses to Complex Emergencies. London: Overseas Development Institute.
- Magone, Claire, Fabrice Weissman, and Michael Neuman. 2011. *Humanitarian* Negotiations Revealed: The MSF Experience. London: Hurst.
- MapAction. Google Earth and its potential in the humanitarian sector: a briefing paper. MapAction 2008, April [cited 31 July 2012. Available from http://www. humanitarian.info/wp-content/uploads/2008/04/google-earth-and-itspotential-in-the-humanitarian-sector.pdf
- Mayer-Schonberger, Viktor, and Kenneth Cukier. 2013. Big Data: A revolution that will transform how we live, work, and think. New York: Houghton Miffin Harcourt Publishing Company.
- Meier, Patrick. Collaborative Crisis Mapping [Video]. Washington DC: Emergency Social Data Summit, American Red Cross. 2010, 12 August [cited 15 August 2012. Available from http://x24.eushare.org/videos
- Meier, Patrick. *Humanitarianism in the Network Age: Ground Breaking Study.* iRevoluiton 2013,9 April [cited 22 May 2013. Available from http://irevolution. net/2013/04/09/humanitarianism-network-age/#comment-36134
- Mirowski, Philip. 2013. Never Let A Serious Crisis go to Waste: How neoliberalism survived the financial meltdown. London & New York: Verso.
- MIT Game Lab. *Purposeful Games for Social Change*. MIT Game Lab 2013 [cited 14 October 2013. Available from http://purposefulgames.info/
- Mitchell, Tom, and Katie Harris. 2012. Resilience: A risk management approach In *Background Note*. London: Overseas Development Institute.
- Morozov, Evgeny. 2011. *The Net Delusion: How Not to Liberate the World*. London: Penguin Books.
- Norman, Bryony. 2012. Monitoring and accountablity practices for remotely managed projects implemented in volatile operating environments Teddington: Tearfund
- O'Malley, Pat. 2009. "Uncertainty makes us free': Liberalism, risk and individual security." *Behemoth. A Journal on Civilisation* no. II (3):24-38.
- O'Malley, Pat. 2010. "Resilient Subjects: Uncertainty, Warfare and Liberalism." *Economy and Society* no. 39 (4):488-509.
- O'Reilly, Conor. 2011. "From Kidnaps to Contagious Diseases': Elite Rescue and the Strategic Expansion of the Transnational Security Consultancy Industry." *International Political Sociology* no. 5 (2):178-197.
- Pierson, Paul. 1994. Dismantling the Welfare State? Reagan, Thatcher, and the Politics of Retrenchment. Cambridge Cambridge University Press.
- Prins, E. 2008. "Use of low cost Landsat ETM+ to spot burnt villages in Darfur, Sudan." *International Journal of Remote Sensing* no. 28 (4):1207-1214.
- Reiff, David. 2002. A Bed for the Night: Humanitarianism in Crisis. New York: Simon and Schuster.

- Rockström, Johan, Will Steffen, Kevin Noone, Asa Person, F Stuart III Chapin, and Eric Lambin. 2009. "Planetary Boundaries: Exploring the Safe Operating Space for Humanity." *Ecology and Society* no. 14 (2):32.
- Rohde, David. *The Hideous Inequality Exposed by Hurricane Sandy*. The Atlantic 2012, 31 October [cited 29 November 2012. Available from http://www.theatlantic.com/business/archive/2012/10/the-hideous-inequality-exposed-by-hurricane-sandy/264337/
- Satellite Sentinel Project. Satellite Sentinel Project: Monitoring the crisis in the Sudans. Washington DC: Enough. 2012, 24 July [cited 26 July 2012. Available from http://satsentinel.org/
- Scarpati, Daniel. *Sandy Stories* [Video, 8 mins 10 secs]. Vimeo 2013, 17 May [cited 5 July 2013. Available from http://vimeo.com/66376067
- Schumacher, E F. 1974. Small is Beautiful: As Study of Economics as if People Mattered. London: Abacus.
- Sen, A K. 1981. Poverty and Famines. Oxford: Clarendon.
- Shane, Scott. WikiLeaks Stirs Global Fears on Antiterrorist Software. The New York Times 2012, 13 August [cited 14 August 2012. Available from http://www. nytimes.com/2012/08/14/us/trapwire-antiterrorist-software-leaks-set-offweb-furor.html
- Shortland, Anja. 2012. Treasure Mapped: Using Satellite Imagery to Track the Developmental Effects of Somali Piracy. London: Chatham House.
- Siddaway, James. 2007. "Spaces of Postdevelopment." Progress in Human Geography no. 31 (3):343-361.
- Spiz, Pierre. 1978. "Silent Violence: famine and inequality." International Social Science Journal no. XXX (4):867-892.
- Sulik, John J, and Scott Edwards. 2010. "Feature extraction for Darfur: geospatial applications in the documentation of human rights abuse." *International Journal of Remote Sensing* no. 31 (10):2521-2533.
- Summerfield, Derek. 2001. "The invention of post-traumatic stress disorder and the social usefulness of a psychiatric category." *British Medical Journal* no. 322:95-98.
- UNHCR. Against All Odds. UNHCR with Statoil, Microsoft, Erickson, Datareal AB, Paregos AB, TicTac Interactive AB 2005 [cited 14 October 2013. Available from http://www.playagainstallodds.ca/
- UNHCR. Google Earth Layers. UN High Commission for Refugees 2008 [cited 11 October 2013. Available from http://www.unhcr.org/pages/49c3646c4d3. html
- UNOCHA. 2013. Humanitarianism in the Network Age. In OCHA Policy and Study Series. New York: UN Office for Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs.
- USHMM. Crisis in Darfur. United States Holocaust Memorial Museum 2009 [cited 10 October 2013. Available from http://www.ushmm.org/learn/ mapping-initiatives/crisis-in-darfur

- Verjee, Firoz. 2005. The Application of Geomatics in Complex Humanitarian Emergencies *The Journal of Humanitarian Assistance* 1-27, http://sites.tufts.edu/jha/archives/45
- Verjee, Firoz. 2007. An Assessment of the Utility of GIS-Based Analysis to Support the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance. In *Dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Science*. The George Washington University The School of Engineering and Applied Science.
- Walker, Jeremy and Melinda Cooper. 2011. "Genealogies of Resilience: From Systems Ecology to the Political Economy of Crisis Adaptation." *Security Dialogue* no. 14 (2).
- Walker, Peter. 1987. Food for Recovery: Food Monitoring and Targeting in Red Sea Province, Sudan, 1985-1986. Oxford: Oxfam.
- Watkins, Tate. Rebuilding Haiti Why is it taking so long? Centre for Economic and Policy Research 2012, 10 May [cited 15 May 2012. Available from http:// www.cepr.net/index.php/blogs/relief-and-reconstruction-watch/fear-andloathing-in-port-au-prince
- WEF. 2013. Global Risks 2013: An initiative of the Risk Response Network. Geneva: World Economic Forum.
- Whitaker, Ben. 1983. A Bridge of People: A Personal View of Oxfam's First Forty Years. London: Heinemann.
- Wisner, Ben, Piers Blaikie, Terry Cannon, and Ian Davis. 2004. At Risk: Natural Hazards, People's Vulnerability and Disasters. London & New York: Routledge.
- Worth, Robert F. 2012. Can American Diplomacy Ever Come Out of its Bunker? *The New York Times Magazine*, http://www.nytimes.com/2012/11/18/ magazine/christopher-stevens-and-the-problem-of-american-diplomacy. html?ref=us&_r=0
- Zlatanova, S, A Dilo, M de Vries, and A Fichtinger. 2010. Models of Dynamic Data for Emergency Response: A Comparative Study. In *A special joint symposium of ISPRS Technical Commission IV & AutoCarto in conjunction with ASPRS/CaGIS 2010 Fall Specialty Conference*. Orlando, Florida.